1\. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/DECISION BELOW 

Ronald Richard Brown requests this Court grant review pursuant 

to RAP 13.4 ofthe unpublished decision ofthe Court of Appeals in State 

v. Brown, No. 70148-7-I. filed July 27,2015. A copy of the opinion is 

attached as an appendix.

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

I. A defendant may be found guilty of a crime as an accomplice 

only if the State proves beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant not 

only had knowledge of the crime, but was also ready to assist the principal 

with the purpose offacilitafing the crime. Here, the Court of Appeals held 

the State proved Mr. Brown was guilty of first degree robbery as an 

accomplice, even though he did not share an intent to take property and in 

fact actively discouraged the principals from taking property. Does the 

Court of Appeals' opinion cont1ict with the law of accomplice liability as 

set forth in this Com1's case law and present a significant issue of 

constitutional due process? RAP 13.4(b)( I), (3). ( 4 ). 

2. The ··in for a penny, in for a pound'' theory of accomplice 

liability has been discredited in Washington and it is improper for a 

prosecutor to argue that theory before the jury. Did the prosecutor commit 

prejudicial misconduct. and improperly encourage the jury to convict Mr. 

Brown of robbery as an accomplice despite the absence of evidence that 
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he had any intent to take property. by arguing the .. in for a penny, in for a 

pound" theory in closing argument? 

3. Did the trial com1 violate ER 404(b) by admitting intlammatory 

and iiTelevant evidence of a homicide that occmTed during the incident, 

for which Mr. Brown was not charged, and in failing to provide a limiting 

instruction although one was requested by the defense? 

4. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in refusing to allow Mr. 

Brown to cross-examine Mr. Munson with evidence that he was a •·two

strike" offender, which was directly relevant to his credibility? 

~ Did Mr. Brown receive ineffective assistance of counsel? 

6. Did the prosecutor commit cumulative prejudicial misconduct? 

7. Did the State fail to prove burglary beyond a reasonable doubt? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Louis "Chuck'' Munson and his wife Susan lived in a house in 

Marysville. 1!10/13RP 60. Mr. Munson's friends Ethan Mattox and Jeff 

Brinkley were also staying at the property. 1/1 0/13RP 61. 

Both Mr. Mattox and Mr. Brinkley \Vere engaged in selling 

methamphetamine. l/1 0113RP 75. Kenny Easley had been supplying 

them with methamphetamine. 1!14113RP 423. 

One day, Mr. Easley came to the house. Mr. Munson was angry he 

had come without calling first. 1/1 0/ l3RP 80-82. He, Mr. Mattox and 
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Mr. Brinkley confronted Mr. Easley and took him to the basement. Mr. 

Easley was robbed at gunpoint of his car keys, $4,700 in cash, four ounces 

of methamphetamine, some heroin, and his gun. 1/14113RP 434-36.486-

89. Mr. Mattox and Mr. Brinkley drove Mr. Easley to a tiiend"s house; 

they left him there but stole his car. 1114/13RP 437-38.494-95. 

The methamphetamine taken from Mr. Easley belonged to Ronald 

Brown, who was Mr. Easley's methamphetamine supplier. l/14113RP 

421-22, 440. Mr. Easley called Mr. Brown and told him what happened. 

1/14!13RP 439. Mr. Easley and Mr. Brown gathered several associates 

and some firearms together and decided to return to the Munsons" to get 

their money, drugs and Mr. Easley's car back. 1/14/13RP 441-43. They 

did not intend to harm or rob the Munsons. 1111/13RP 225, 228: 

l/14/13RP 444,502, 532,543-44: l/16/13RP 799,809-10. They called 

Mr. Mattox and Mr. Brinkley, who agreed to meet them at the Munsons' 

house. 1/l4/13RP 444. 

Mr. Munson saw Mr. Brown and the others anive and opened the 

door and allowed them to enter. 1/1 0/13RP 102-03. According to Mr. 

Munson, Mr. Brown was the first person to enter. carrying a shotgun. 

1110113 RP 1 05-06. Mr. BrO\vn handed the shotgun to someone else and 

then sat down on the edge of the couch. Ill 0113 RP 1 09. 
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All together, nine people came to the house: several had guns. 

1/10/13RP 114-16; l/11/13RP 249. Mr. Brown and Mr. Easley seemed to 

betheleaders. 1110/l3RP 113-14; l/14/13RP317. 

Mr. Brown repeatedly assured Mr. Munson they were not there to 

hurt him but merely wanted Mr. Mattox and Mr. Brinkley to return the 

property they had taken from Mr. Easley. 1/10/13RP 109, 114. Mr. 

Munson was told that if he could persuade Mr. Mattox and Mr. B1inkley 

to return to the house, the situation would be over. 111 0/13RP 118. Mr. 

Munson called Mr. Mattox and Mr. Brinkley several times, and they 

agreed to come to the house. 1/10/13RP 121-23: 1114/13RP 451. But 

they never did. 111 0113RP 123. 133. 

Soon, Ms. Munson returned home. I/I0/13RP 119-20. Mr. Brown 

told her they were not there to hurt her or Mr. Munson but merely wanted 

Mr. Mattox and Mr. Brinkley to return the items they stole. l/1 0/13RP 

120: lll4/l3RP 309.455. 

During the incident, two participants took Mr. Munson's wallet, 

watch, and money in his pocket. 1/1 0/13RP 1 U:!. Others rummaged 

through the Munsons' belongings in the back rooms and took several 

items. includingjewclry from Ms. Munson's jewelry box. l/11/13RP 216. 

220: I/14113RP 314. When Mr. Brown saw the others taking the 

Munsons' belongings, he told them to stop. He repeatedly reminded the 
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others they were not there to take anything from the Munsons but only to 

recover the items taken from Mr. Easley. 1111113RP 225, 228: 1114/IJRP 

314. Mr. Brown himself did not take anything. 1!11113RP 228. After the 

incident, he told the others to return the Munsons' belongings, although 

that was never done. 111 0/13RP 118: 1/16/lJRP 775. 

After several hours. Mr. Easley's friend Patrick Buckmaster 

arrived at the house. 1110/13RP 138; 1114/lJRP 457. A few minutes 

later, one of the participants accidentally shot Mr. Buckmaster in the head. 

killing him. l/15113RP 640-41. Upon hearing the shotgun blast. everyone 

but the Munsons tlcct from the house. 1/10/13RP 139. 

Mr. Bro\vn and Mr. Easley returned that night, removed Mr. 

Buckmaster's body and buried it in a remote wooded area. 1/10/l3RP 

143; 1/14/13RP 463,466-67. Over the next two days, they cleaned and 

remodeled the house to remove traces ofthe killing. 1110/13RP 143. 146, 

150-51; I/14/13RP 469-72. 

Ultimately. Mr. Brown vvas charged and convicted oftwo counts 

of first degree kidnapping. RCW 9A.40.020; two counts of first degree 

robbery, RCW 9A.56.200: two counts of second degree assault RCW 

9A.36.021(l)(c); and one count offirst degree burglary, RCW 9A.52.020, 

all with tireann enhancements. CP 92-107. 925-26. 
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Mr. Brown appealed. The Court of Appeals reversed the 

kidnapping counts based on instructional enor and held the two assault 

convictions merged into the robbery and kidnapping convictions. Slip Op. 

These aspects of the Court of Appeals opinion are not at issue in this 

petition. The Court of Appeals aftinned the other convictions. 

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 

1. This Court should grant review and make clear 
that, in order for accomplice liability to attach, a 
defendant must not only have knowledge of the 
crime, he must also share the criminal intent of 
the principal. RAP 13.4(b )( 1 ), (3), ( 4) 

To prove robbery, the State was required to prove Mr. Brown or an 

accomplice ··unlawfully took personal propet1y from the person or in the 

presence'' of Louis and Susan Munson, with the intent to commit theft of 

the property. CP 133-36; RCW 9A.56.l90. Mr. Brown was convicted of 

robbery as an accomplice because there is no evidence that he himself 

took any property. I/11113RP 228. Constitutional due process required 

the State to prove accomplice liability beyond a reasonable doubt. 

Apprendi v. New Jersev, 530 U.S. 466, 477, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 

2d 435 (2000); ln re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 

2d 368 (1970); U.S. Const. amend. XIV: Const. art. I,§ 3. 

A person is guilty of a crime as an accomplice if .. with knowledge 

that it will promote or facilitate the commission of the crime, he or she 
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either: ( 1) solicits. commands. encourages. or requests another person to 

commit the crime: or (2) aids or agrees to aid another person in planning 

or committing the crime." CP 120; RCW 9A.08.020(3 ). 

I1 is well-established that ·•the crime" lor purposes of the 

accomplice liability statute means "the charged offense:· State v. Roberts, 

142 Wn.2d 471,510-11, 14 P.3d 713 (2000); State v. Cronin, 142 Wn.2d 

568. 579, 14 P.3d 752 (2000). An accomplice must "have the purpose to 

promote or facilitate the particular conducr rhatforms the basisfor the 

charge" and '·will not be liable.fhr conduct that does not fall H'ilhin this 

purpose.'' Roberts. 142 Wn.2d at 510-11 (quotation marks and citation 

omitted). In other words. a person cannot be liable as an accomplice '·for 

any criminal result that occurred so long as the accomplice agreed to 

participate in any crime whatsoever.·· ld. Knowledge that the principal 

intends to commit "a crime'' does not impose strict liability on an 

accomplice for any and all offenses that toll ow. I d. at 513. 

But this Court's case law predating Roberts and Cronin also makes 

clear that mere knowledge of'·the crime" is not enough. The accomplice 

must also share the same criminal purpose as the principal. "To prove that 

one present is an aider, it must be established that one is ready to assist in 

the commission of the crime." State v. Rotunno, 95 Wn.2d 931. 933. 631 

P.2d 951 (1981 ); In re Welfare of Wilson. 91 Wn.2d 487, 491, 588 P.2d 
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1161 ( 1979). ··one does not aid and abet unless, in some way. he 

associates himself with the undertaking. participates in it as in something 

he desires to bring about, and seeks by his action to make it succeed." 

Wilson, 91 Wn.2d at 49l. 

In Wilson. a juvenile was part of a group which had stolen 

weatherstripping, tied it into a rope, and strung the rope across a road. Id. 

Wilson was never actually seen holding the rope nor participating in the 

theft. ld. The Court reversed Wilson's conviction as an accomplice. 

explaining that, ''even though a bystander's presence alone may, in fact 

encourage the principal actor in his criminal or delinquent conduct, that 

does not in itself make the bystander a participant in the guilt. It is not the 

circumstance of· encouragement' in itself that is determinative, rather it is 

encouragement plus the intent of the bystander to encourage that 

constitutes abetting.'' ld. at 491-92 (emphasis added). 

More recently, the Court of Appeals aftirmed this principle in State 

v. Truong, 168 Wn. App. 529, 277 P.3d 74 (20 12). Citing Wilson. the 

court explained, a person is not guilty as an accomplice unless he 

•·associates himselfwith the venture and takes some action to help make it 

successful.,. Truong, 168 Wn. App. at 539. The State must prove the 

defendant "shared in the criminal intent of the principal. thus 

demonstrating a community of unlawful purpose at the time the act was 
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committed.'' I d. ''Mere presence of the defendant without aiding the 

principal-despite knowledge of the ongoing criminal activity-is not 

sufficient to establish accomplice liability.'' Id. 

The Cout1 of Appeals· decision to affirm Mr. Brown· s robbery 

convictions conflicts with these principles because there is no evidence 

that he shared in the criminal intent of the principals to take prope11y from 

the Munsons. Mr. Brown had absolutely no intent to steal from the 

Munsons. To the contrary, he repeatedly told the others not to take their 

belongings. 1/11113RP 224-25.228: 1114/13RP 314; 1!15/13RP 657-58. 

He told them several times that "nothing was to be taken.'' 1 /14/13RP 

314. He told the Munsons that the group was there just to get Mr. 

Brown's and Mr. Easley's property back which had been stolen from Mr. 

Easley. 1110/13RP 109, 114, 123; 1/11/13RP 218, 225; 1114/l3RP 306. 

309, 374, 377. 455, 502. As Ms. Munson testified. "[h]e just wanted his 

stutfback." 1/14/13RP 309. 

At1er the incident, Mr. Brown instructed the others to return the 

Munsons' belongings to them. lll0/13RP 118: I/16/13RP 775.778.813. 

ln addition. Mr. Brown gave Mr. Munson money to replace the stolen 

items. 1/l0/13RP 156, 158-59; 1/l4/13RP 388; 1/l5/l3RP 530-31.545. 

Mr. Munson did give Mr. Brown $700 in cash and a pistol. 

l/14113RP 460; 1115/13RP 539. But those were items that had been taken 
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from Mr. Easley earlier that day. l/14/13RP 438. Mr. Munson said Mr. 

Brinkley and Mr. Mattox gave him the gun and the cash. 1/15113RP 656. 

Mr. Brovm immediately returned them to Mr. Easley. l/15/13RP 539. 

The Court of Appeals reasoned the evidence was sufficient to 

prove Mr. Brown guilty as an accomplice because he and the group had 

spent a significant amount of time planning the event; Mr. Brown acted as 

the leader; and he and Mr. Fordham had decided to play "good cop" and 

"bad cop." Slip Op. at 18-19. But this does not show that Mr. Brovvn 

shared any intent to steal from the Munsons. According to the Court of 

Appeals' logic, as the leader of the group. Mr. Brown would be liable tor 

any criminal action taken by any of the other participants. The Court of 

Appeals' reasoning is simply another manifestation of the discredited "in 

for a dime, in for a dollar'' theory of accomplice liability that has been 

rejected in Washington. 

Contrary to the Com1 of Appeals' conclusion, the evidence shows 

that the overall plan for the incident. which Mr. Brown participated in 

organizing, vvas to meet Mr. Brinkley and Mr. Mattox at the Munsons' 

house and retrieve the property they had stolen from Mr. Easley. 

1114/13RP 444,451,502, 543-44; 1/16113RP 722,799. As Mr. Fordham 

testified, ·'[t]rom my understanding. when we left Ray Easley's house, 

they were supposed to be meeting us at the Munsons' house to give the 
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stuff back." 1/16/13RP 809-10. There is no evidence of any pre-arranged 

plan to take property from the Munsons. 

The Court of Appeals' opinion that the jury could have infened 

Mr. Brown had an overall purpose to take the Munsons' property, simply 

because he acted as the leader, is speculative and contrary to principles of 

due process. The State may not rely upon speculation to prove an 

essential fact. State v. Colguitt, 133 Wn. App. 789,796, 137 PJd 892 

(2006). Although intent is typically proved through circumstantial 

evidence, it may not be inferred from evidence that is "'patently 

equivocal.'' State v. Vasquez, 178 Wn.2d 1, 8. 309 P.3d 318 (2013). 

The evidence that Mr. Brown had any intent to take property from 

the Munsons is not only equivocal. it is simply absent. The Court of 

Appeals" opinion to the contrary conflicts with this Court's case law 

regarding accomplice liability and the State's burden to prove the clements 

of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. This Court should grant review 

and reverse the robbery convictions. RAP 13.4(b)(l), (3), (4). 

2. The prosecutor committed flagrant, ill
intentioned and prejudicial misconduct in 
closing argument by urging the jury to apply the 
discredited theory of accomplice liability, "in for 
a penny, in for a pound" 

The prosecutor's improper statements in closing argument 

encouraged the jury to enter convictions for the robberies that were not 
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warranted by the evidence. In addressing the lack of evidence that Mr. 

Brown intended to steal from the Munsons. the prosecutor told the jury 

that Mr. Brown was liable lor the robberies as an accomplice simply 

because he pat1icipated in the other crimes. li18/13RP 990-91. The 

prosecutor said that if a person and his ti·iend commit an assault and the 

friend steals something from the victim during the assault, the first person 

is an accomplice to robbery even if he had no intent to steal. The 

prosecutor elaborated, "in for a penny, in for a pound."' ld. 

The State conceded on appeal that this argument was improper and 

the Court of Appeals agreed. Slip Op. at 21. But the court held the claim 

was waived because it was not tlagrant or ill-intentioned and could have 

been cured by an instruction to the jury. Slip Op. at 21-22. 

To establish reversible prosecutorial misconduct, the defendant 

must show the improper comments resulted in prejudice that had a 

substantial likelihood of affecting the verdict. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 

741. 759-61,278 P.3d 653 (2012). lfthe defendant did not object at triaL 

he is deemed to have waived any error, unless the prosecutor's misconduct 

was so flagrant and ill intentioned that an instruction could not have cured 

the resulting prejudice. ld. 

Here. there was no evidence that Mr. Brown took any items 

belonging to the Munsons or that he intended to take anything. In fact, he 
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repeatedly told the other participants not to take anything of the Munsons ·. 

1/11/13RP 225, 228; 1114/13P 314. The evidence that Mr. Brown was 

guilty of the robberies as either a principal or an accomplice was 

negligible. It is likely the prosecutor's improper argument influenced the 

jury to find Mr. Brown was guilty of the robberies simply if they found he 

participated in the other crimes. It is likely. therefore, that the 

prosecutor's improper argument affected the verdict. 

To the extent Mr. Brown waived his right to challenge the 

prosecutor's improper argument because defense counsel did not object at 

triaL Mr. Brown received ineffective assistance of counsel. To establish 

inefTective assistance of counsel, Mr. Brown must show that counsel's 

conduct was deficient and the conduct resulted in actual prejudice. State 

v. Jeffries. 105 Wn.2d 398, 418, 717 P.2d 722 ( 1986); Strickland v. 

Washington, 466 U.S. 668.687. 104 S. Ct. 2052.80 L. Eel. 2d 674 (1984). 

There can be no legitimate tactical reason for counsel· s failure to 

object to the improper argument when it so markedly increased the 

chances of conviction on an improper theory of liability. The argument 

likely intluenced the outcome of the case because the evidence of Mr. 

Brown's guilt for the robberies, either as a principal or an accomplice, was 

minimal. The argument encouraged the jury to conclude-wrongly-that 

Mr. Brown could be held liable for the robberies simply if he willingly 
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participated in the other crimes. Counsel's failure to object to the 

argument was deficient and prejudicial: the convictions must be reversed. 

3. The trial court abused its discretion by admitting 
evidence of Mr. Buckmaster's homicide and 
refusing to provide a limiting instruction 

The trial court admitted, over objection, evidence related to Mr. 

Buckmaster's shooting, including the efforts made to clean up the 

Munsons' home, tor the purposes of showing the tirearm used was 

operational, and to demonstrate consciousness of guilt. 1/07/lJRP 19-22; 

111 0/lJRP 4-6, 18-19. Thus. the jury was exposed to int1ammatory 

photographs ofthe autopsy and burial site. 1115/lJRP 559-60. 570. 592. 

The State's witnesses used the words ·'homicide·· and '·murder" 

throughout the trial. 1/10/lJRP 31,163,233: 1/11/13RP 244; 1!14/IJRP 

476; 1115/13RP 564; 1/16/lJRP 782. The Court of Appeals affirmed the 

trial com1's decision to admit the evidence. Slip Op. at 25. 

Before admitting I::R 404(h) evidence, a trial court must ( 1) lind by 

a preponderance of the evidenct: the misconduct occurred. C) identify the 

purpose ti.•r which the evidence is sought to be introduced. (3) determine 

whether the evidence is relevant to prove an clernent of the crime charged. 

<mel (4) weigh the probative value against the prejudicial effect. State v. 

Foxhoven. 161 Wn.2d 168. 175. 163 PJcl 786 (2007). If the evidence is 

admitted. a limiting instruction must be given to the jury. ld. 
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The evidence and photographs were int1ammatory and unfairly 

stimulated an emotional response in the jury rather than a rational one. ER 

403. The court admitted the evidence to show the firearm was operational, 

but the State was not required to prove the firearm was operational. only 

that it was a "gun in fact" as opposed to a "'toy'' gun. State v. Faust, 93 

Wn. App. 373,380-81,967 P.2d 1284 (1998); State v. Berrier, 110 Wn. 

App. 639, 645-46, 41 P.3d 1198 (2002). 

The trial court also admitted the evidence, notably the cleanup 

et1ot1s, to show consciousness of guilt. But the evidence was not relevant 

to show consciousness or guilt lor the charged crimes. Mr. Brown was 

charged with crimes against the Munsons, not Mr. Buckmaster. 

The Court of Appeals held the trial comt did not err in refusing to 

provide a limiting instruction because Mr. Brown did not request one. 

Slip Op. at 26. But this is a mischaracterization of the record. Defense 

counsel proposed a limiting instruction but the State objected and the cou11 

retused to provide it. 1/17/13RP 953-57; l/18113RP 974-76. 

In the context ofER 404(b), ifthe party against whom the 

evidence is admitted requests a limiting instruction, the trial court has a 

duty to provide one. even if defense counsel's proposed instruction is 

incorrect. State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 424-25. 269 P .3d 215 

(2012). It is the trial com1's duty to cotTectly instruct the jury. ld. 
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Here, the trial court should not have allowed the inflammatory, 

voluminous, and unfairly prejudicial evidence and graphic photographs of 

the grave site and burial, autopsy, and the cleanup effort. The effect of the 

evidence likely caused any reasonable person on the jury to be confused 

about the evidence regarding the charges at hand. The Cout1 should grant 

review and reverse the trial com1's decision to admit the evidence. 

4. The trial court erred in refusing to allow Mr. 
Brown to elicit from Mr. Munson that he was a 
''two-strike" offender 

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments guarantee an accused the 

right to a meanin~ful opportunity to present a complete defense and cross-

examine the witnesses against him. Davis v. Alaska. 415 U.S. 308. 315. 

94 S. Ct. I 105. 39 L. hd. 2d 347 ( 1974 ): California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 

479.485. 104 S. Ct. 2528.81 L. Ed. 2d 413 ( 1984): U.S. Const. amends. 

VI. XIV. 

Mr. Munson had two prior convictions for first degree robbery, a 

strike offense, from 1980 and 1989. 1/1 0/!JRP 51. Mr. Brown's theory 

of the case was that Mr. Munson was involved in the robbery and 

abduction of Ketmy Easley earlier on the day of the incident. As Mr. 

Easley testified, he was held at gun point in Mr. Munson's basement and 

Mr. Munson helped drag him down there. J/14/13RP 486-89. IfMr. 

Munson had not been deemed a ''victim" by the State he most likely 
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would have received his third strike. Because or this, Mr. Munson tailored 

his testimony and committed petjury for the State. Ill 0/13RP 51-56. 

The trial com1 ruled the convictions were too old to admit under 

ER 609. l/10/13RP 53. The Court of Appeals affirmed. Slip Op. at 26. 

But ER 609(b) permits a trial court to admit evidence of a 

witness's prior convictions that arc more than I 0 years old '·in the interests 

ofjusticc:· The trial cout1 should have admitted the evidence. Any 

reasonabk person would have taken into consideration that Mr. Munson. 

being a two-strike of1~ndcr, was possibly tailoring his testimony and was 

less credible as a witness. The other State witnesses essentially said he 

was an accomplice to the abduction and robbery of Kenny Easley. and he 

thcrerore could have been facing a third strike if not deemed a "victim" by 

the State. The trial court's decision to exclude th'-! l'Vidence violated both 

FR 009 and Mr. Brown·s constitutional rights to cross-examine the 

witnesses and present a complete defense. 

5. Mr. Brown r·eceivcd ineffective assistance of 
counsel 

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. the 

defendant must show that (1) defense counsel's representation was 

deficient in that it fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. and 

(2) the deticient performance resulted in prejudice. Strickland v. 

Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); 
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State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322,334-35,899 P.2d 1251 (1995); U.S. 

Const. amend. VI. 

Defense counsel's failure to object on several occasions 

cumulatively denied Mr. Brown a fair trial. Counsel failed to object to the 

admission and authentication ofExhibit 85, which prejudiced Mr. Brown 

because the ''bullet proof vest" was not at the Munsons' residence and had 

no connection to the crime. l/15/l3RP 663-65, 823-24. 

Counsel failed to object to Mr. Munson's uncorroborated statement 

that when his wife asked Mr. Brown what she should do if the police 

came, he said, "T w::mt yo11 to get rid of them, otherwise, there's going to 

be two dead cops.'' l/10/13RP 130. This testimony was an intlammatory 

ambush by the State in front of the jury without any effort of neutralizing 

the unexpected remark. 

While questioning forensic scientist GejJ, the prosecutor asked, 

"Were you asked to look at some evidence with regard to the case, this 

case in particular, with the victim Patrick Buckmaster?"' llll/13RP 259. 

Counsel should have objected because Buckmaster was nor the victim. 

Counsel should have objected when the prosecutor argued that 

Buckmaster's shooting was sufticient to prove the ''bodily injury" prong 

of first degree robbery. 1 /18/13RP 987. 
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Counsel should have objected to lack of authentication of Exhibit 

84, the semi-automatic ritle: the State laid no foundation that this weapon 

was ever at the Munson residence. llll/13RP 262-634. 

6. The prosecutor committed cumulative, 
prejudicial misconduct 

The right to a fair trial is a fundamental liberty secured by the 

federal ami state constitutions. In re Pers. Restraint of Glasmann, 175 

Wn.2cl696, 703,286 P.Jd 673 (2012): U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV: 

Const. art. J, § 22. Prosccutorialmisconduct may deprive a defendant of 

his constitutional right to a l~tir trial. !d. 

llcre, Mr. Brown was prejudiced by the cumulative effect of the 

prosecutor's constant use of propensity inference, misrepresentation of the 

law, and personal opinions. The prosecutor referred to Buckmaster as the 

"victim." llll/13RP 259. The prosecutor argued the jury could use 

Buckmaster's death as the "'bodily injury'' prong oftirst degree robbery. 

111 8113RP 987. The prosecutor told the judge the State had not been able 

to located Mr. Easley but in fact he was the first person arrested. 

1/02/13RP 2-4; 5/17/12RP 14, 30-31. The prosecutor injected personal 

opinion into closing argument. J/18/l3RP 991, 996-97, 1029. 
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7. The State did not prove the elements of first 
degree burglary beyond a reasonable doubt 

Constitutional due process required the State to prove the elements 

of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. See Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 

U.S. 466, 477, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000); In re Winship, 

397 U.S. 358. 364, 90S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970); U.S. Const. 

amend. XIV; Const. art. I,§ 3. 

Here, the State did not prove the essential elements of burglary that 

Mr. Brown's entry into the Munson house was unlawful or with an intent 

to commit a crime. Mr. Munson talked to Mr. Brown on the phone before 

his arrival. 1/11/13RP 222. When Mr. Brown arrived, he was invited in. 

1/1 0113RP 100. Mr. Munson agreed to give back what money he had 

taken during the assault and robbery of Mr. Easley, and to help retrieve the 

rest from Mr. Mattox and Mr. Brinkley. 1114113RP 460: l/15/13RP 656. 

E. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons given, this Court should grant review.