# RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Sep 24, 2015, 2:27 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

NO. 92141-5

RECEIVED BY B-MAIL

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

RONALD R. BROWN,

Petitioner.

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

SETH A. FINE
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333



## **

#### I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The State of Washington, respondent, asks that review be denied. If review is granted, the State asks the court to review the additional issue identified in part II.

#### II. ADDITIONAL ISSUE

The jury was erroneously instructed on uncharged means of committing kidnapping. The jury was also instructed on a charged means, as to which there was overwhelming evidence. Were the instructions on the uncharged means harmless error?

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts are set out in the Court of Appeals opinion.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

IF THIS COURT GRANTS REVIEW, IT SHOULD ALSO REVIEW THE FAILURE OF THE COURT OF APPEALS TO CONSIDER WHETHER ERROR WAS HARMLESS BECAUSE OF OVERWHELMING EVIDENCE.

The petition for review raises seven issues. Five of these (nos. 3-7) were not even raised in the appellant's brief – they were raised in the defendant's pro se Statement of Additional Grounds. All seven issues involve application of established law to the facts of this case. None of them warrant review.

If this court nonetheless grants review, it should also review an issue that was inadequately addressed by the Court of Appeals. The State argued that an error in the jury instructions was harmless because of overwhelming evidence. The Court of Appeals rejected this argument without considering whether the evidence was overwhelming. This analysis conflicts with this court's decisions.

This issue involves the defendant's convictions for two counts of first degree kidnapping. The information alleged that the defendant committed these crimes with intent to inflict extreme emotional distress. 2 CP 925. The jury was properly instructed on that charged means. The jury was, however, also instructed on two uncharged means: holding a person for ransom or reward, and holding a person as a shield or hostage. 1 CP 121, 127 (inst. no. 11, 16).

On appeal, the State conceded that these instructions were constitutional error. Brief of Respondent at 9. The State argued, however, that the error was harmless because there was overwhelming evidence of the charged means. While the victims were being restrained, one of the perpetrators (Danny Fordham) repeatedly threatened one of the victims (Louis Munson) with an assault rifle. 1 RP 115-16; 3 RP 318, 455-56; 4 RP 637; 5 RP 765-66. The stress from this was so severe that Mr. Munson began

experiencing heart palpitations and believed that he was going to have a heart attack. 1 RP 121; 3 RP 318-19, 456.

Two of the perpetrators testified that these actions were part of the plan. 3 RP 4546; 5 RP 790. This was corroborated by the defendant's reaction to Mr. Fordham's conduct. When someone asked the defendant to calm Mr. Fordham down, the defendant responded "that's his job, he's supposed to be an intimidator." 1 RP 122; 3 RP 320. Based on this evidence, any reasonable juror would necessarily conclude that the kidnapping was committed with intent to inflict extreme emotional distress.

The Court of Appeals did not consider whether the evidence was overwhelming. Instead, the court considered whether "it is possible the jury convicted the defendant under the uncharged alternative." The court pointed out that the evidence and the State's arguments supported conviction on the uncharged alternatives. Consequently, the jury could have convicted the defendant under those alternatives, so the error was not harmless. Slip op. at 8-9.

This analysis misses the point. This court has consistently applied an "overwhelming untainted evidence" test. Under that test, constitutional error is harmless if "the untainted evidence is so overwhelming that it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt." See,

e.g., State v. Watt, 160 Wn.2d 626, 636, 160 P.3d 640, 645 (2007); State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 425, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985). Under this test, if the jury would necessarily find the defendant guilty on the charged theory, instructions on uncharged means were harmless error.

The Court of Appeals reversed the kidnapping convictions without ever considering whether the evidence was overwhelming. This analysis was contrary to <u>Watt</u> and <u>Guloy</u>. If this court grants review of other issues, it should review this issue under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

#### V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The petition for review should be denied. If review is granted, the court should reverse the Court of Appeals and reinstate the convictions of kidnapping. The State is not challenging the Court of Appeals reversal of the assault convictions. The case should therefore be remanded for resentencing.

Respectfully submitted on September 24, 2015.

MARK K. ROE

**Snohomish County Prosecuting Attorney** 

By:

SETH A. FINE, WSBA # 10937 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE STATE OF WASH	INGTON,	7
v. RONALD R. BROWN,	Respondent,	No. 92141-5  DECLARATION OF DOCUMENT FILING AND E-SERVICE
	Petitioner.	

#### **AFFIDAVIT BY CERTIFICATION:**

The undersigned certifies that on the  $\frac{\partial \vec{t}}{\partial t}$  day of September, 2015, affiant sent via email as an attachment the following document(s) in the above-referenced cause:

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

I certify that I sent via e-mail a copy of the foregoing document to: The Court of Appeals via Electronic Filing and Maureen M. Cyr, Washington Appellate Project, <a href="mailto:maureen@washapp.org">maureen@washapp.org</a> and <a href="mailto:washapp.org">washapp.org</a>.

I certify (or declare) under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Washington that the foregoing is true and correct.

Dated this day of September, 2015, at the Snohomish County Office.

Diane K. Kremenich

Legal Assistant/Appeals Unit

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office

#### OFFICE RECEPTIONIST, CLERK

To:

Kremenich, Diane; maureen@washapp.org; wapofficemail@washapp.org

Subject:

RE: State v. Ronald Brown

Received on 09-24-2015

Supreme Court Clerk's Office

Please note that any pleading filed as an attachment to e-mail will be treated as the original. Therefore, if a filing is by email attachment, it is not necessary to mail to the court the original of the document.

**From:** Kremenich, Diane [mailto:Diane.Kremenich@co.snohomish.wa.us]

Sent: Thursday, September 24, 2015 2:15 PM

To: OFFICE RECEPTIONIST, CLERK <SUPREME@COURTS.WA.GOV>; maureen@washapp.org;

wapofficemail@washapp.org Subject: State v. Ronald Brown

Good Afternoon...

RE: State v. Ronald R. Brown Supreme Court No. 92141-5

Please accept for filing the following attached pleading: State's Answer to Petition for Review

Thanks.

Diane.

Diane K. Kremenich Snohomish County Prosecuting Attorney - Criminal Division Legal Assistant/Appellate Unit Admin East, 7th Floor (425) 388-3501 Diane.Kremenich@snoco.org

#### **CONFIDENTIALITY STATEMENT**

This message may contain information that is protected by the attorney-client privilege and/or work product privilege. If this message was sent to you in error, any use, disclosure or distribution of its contents is prohibited. If you receive this message in error, please contact me at the telephone number or e-mail address listed above and delete this message without printing, copying, or forwarding it. Thank you.

please consider the environment before printing this email